# A TRANSLATION GENERALIZED QUADRANGLE IN CHARACTERISTIC $\neq 0$ IS LINEAR

#### KOEN THAS

ABSTRACT. It is a long-standing conjecture from the 1970s that every translation generalized quadrangle is *linear*, that is, has an endomorphism ring which is a division ring (or, in geometric terms, that has a *projective representation*). We show that any translation generalized quadrangle  $\Gamma$  is ideally embedded in a translation quadrangle which is linear. This allows us to weakly represent any such  $\Gamma$ in projective space, and moreover, to have a well-defined notion of "characteristic" for these objects. We then show that each translation quadrangle in positive characteristic indeed is linear.

## CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Some definitions	3
3.	Translation generalized quadrangles	4
4.	Basic structural lemmas	5
5.	Adjoining automorphisms	6
6.	Proof of Theorem 1.2	6
7.	Compact connected TGQs are linear	10
8.	The characteristic of a TGQ	11
9.	TGQs in positive characteristic	11
10.	Remarks on characteristic 0	11
References		

# 1. INTRODUCTION

If  $\rho$  is a hyperplane of a projective space  $\mathbb{P}^m(\ell)$  defined over the field  $\ell$ , with  $m \ge 2$ , then the group of translations fixes  $\rho$  pointwise, and acts sharply transitively on the set of points not in  $\rho$ . If  $\Gamma$ is an axiomatic projective plane, and  $\rho$  is a line for which such a translation group A exists, it is necessarily unique, and abelian. A plane with such a group is by definition a *translation plane* [3]. Fix any point  $u \in \Gamma \setminus \rho$ , and for any line Y incident with u, let  $A_U$  be the stabilizer of U in A. Define  $\operatorname{end}^t(A, A)$  to be the set of endomorphisms  $\gamma : A \mapsto A$  such that  $\gamma(A_X) \le A_X$  for every line X on u; then an old and basic result says that  $\operatorname{end}^t(A, A)$  is a division ring (where addition and multiplication are inherited from the endomorphism ring of A). This leads to the fact that one can represent  $\Gamma$  in a projective space over  $\operatorname{end}^t(A, A)$ , since the groups  $A, A_X$  naturally are vector spaces over  $\operatorname{end}^t(A, A)$ . This representation is the so-called "projective" or "Bruck-Bose" representation, and is arguably the most fundamental tool to study and construct translation planes. It was

*Date*: September 20, 2018.

<sup>2000</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. 14N20, 20E42, 20K30, 51B25, 51E12.

*Key words and phrases.* Generalized quadrangle, translation quadrangle, endomorphism ring, projective representation, linearity.

founded in Bruck and Bose their 1964 paper [4].

Projective planes are examples of Tits buildings of rank 2 — also called "generalized polygons" or "generalized *n*-gons," when the gonality of the geometry is specified. Here  $n \ge 3$ , and the case n = 3 corresponds to projective planes. The notion of translation plane naturally generalizes to that of translation generalized *n*-gons — see [19, 4.9.8], but it is easily shown that the very definition forces the gonality *n* to be in the set  $\{3, 4\}$ , see [19, 4.9.8]. For generalized 4-gons, or *generalized quadrangles*, a very rich theory exists, similar to the case of translation planes. There also, in the same way as for translation planes, one defines an endomorphism ring end<sup>t</sup>(A, A) =: k — called "kernel," and the main conjecture is whether it is a division ring so as to have projective representations at hand. (Precise definitions will be given in §3.1.) It is known that k is a (not necessarily commutative) integral domain [6].

So the question is, very roughly, whether all translation generalized quadrangles (TGQs) can be appropriately embedded in projective space over a division ring. This question is the main obstacle in the current theory of general translation quadrangles. The origins of the problem can be traced back to the 1970s, when the conjecture was established for finite TGQs — see [11], and the monographs [10, chapter 8] and [12].

**Conjecture 1.1** (Linearity for TGQs). Any translation generalized quadrangle has a projective representation, that is, the kernel k is a division ring.

Throughout this paper, we will call TGQs for which the kernel is a division ring *linear*, as in [6].

1.1. The present paper. We say that a TGQ (S, A) has a *weak projective representation* if there exists a linear TGQ  $(\overline{S}, \overline{A})$  which ideally contains (S, A). In that case, since  $(\overline{S}, \overline{A})$  has a projective representation, (S, A) can also be represented in projective space.

Assuming by way of contradiction that the kernel k of  $\Gamma$  is not a division ring, we will build inductively an "ambient translation generalized quadrangle"  $\tilde{\Gamma}$  for which the kernel  $\tilde{k}$  is a division ring, and which contains  $\Gamma$  as an ideal subquadrangle. Our first main result then reads as follows.

**Theorem 1.2** (Weak projective representation of TGQs). *Any translation generalized quadrangle has a weak projective representation.* 

Remark 1.3. Theorem 1.2 is a direct corollary of Conjecture 1.1 if the latter were true.

The reason that  $\widetilde{\Gamma}$  exists rests, essentially, upon the following simple fact: if *G* is a group and  $\zeta : G \to G$  is an injective endomorphism, then the direct limit of the directed system

(1) 
$$\cdots \xrightarrow{\zeta} G \xrightarrow{\zeta} G \xrightarrow{\zeta} \cdots$$

is again a group for which  $\zeta$  is stable (that is, becomes an automorphism). [The direct limit can be naturally seen as a union of isomorphic copies of *G* which form a flag, and  $\zeta$  acts on this limit, by the action on each of the copies.] We will introduce a similar localization process for TGQs in order to eventually produce ambient TGQs after at most a countable number of repetitions of this procedure.

For TGQs that have a weak projective representation, we can define a *characteristic*, namely the characteristic of the kernel of any ambient TGQ (it is independent of the choice of ambient TGQ). Our second main result then is:

**Theorem 1.4.** A TGQ of positive characteristic is linear.

We will also severely restrict the possibilities for counter examples in characteristic 0. In particular, we will show that compact connected TGQs are linear.

1.2. **The known cases.** For some special cases Conjecture 1.1 has been proved to be true; *planar* TGQs [7], TGQs with a *strongly regular translation center* [7] and of course *finite* TGQs [10] all satisfy the conjecture. Also, it has been shown in [8] that the more restricted "topological kernel" of a compact connected topological TGQ is a division ring. Due to these rather restricted partial results, it is usually <u>assumed</u> that the kernel of a TGQ be a division ring.

**Remark 1.5.** In [6] it is claimed (in Corollary 3.11) that the kernel of a TGQ always is a division ring, the result which is the main purpose of the present paper. In the proof however, the author uses Proposition 3.10 which states that any three distinct lines on the translation point, together with any affine point, generate a "plane-like" subGQ. This result is not true (even not in the finite case) — in fact, only a very restricted class of TGQs has this property. (Still, Theorem 3.11 of *loc. cit.* shows that if a TGQ *does* satisfy this property, it indeed *is* linear.) The paper [6] contains many other interesting results on infinite TGQs.

**Acknowledgment.** The author likes to acknowledge an anonymous referee for suggesting the result mentioned in section 7.

## 2. Some definitions

We introduce some frequently used notions in the following paragraphs.

2.1. Generalized quadrangles and subquadrangles. A generalized 4-gon or generalized quadrangle (GQ) [10] is a point-line incidence geometry  $\Gamma = (\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{B}, I)$  for which the following axioms are satisfied:

- (i)  $\Gamma$  contains no ordinary k-gon (as an induced subgeometry), for  $2 \le k < 4$ ;
- (ii) any two elements  $x, y \in \mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{B}$  are contained in some ordinary 4-gon in  $\Gamma$ ;
- (iii) there exists an ordinary 5-gon in  $\Gamma$ .

Note that points and lines play the same role in this definition. This is the principle of "duality." Incidence geometries which satisfy (i) and (ii) but not (iii) are *thin* GQs.

If x and y are collinear points in  $\Gamma$ , we write  $x \sim y$ ; in particular,  $x \sim x$ . We use the same notation for lines.

Generalized quadrangles were introduced by Tits in his triality paper [15] in order to better understand the Chevalley groups of rank 2.

2.2. Order. Each thick GQ has the property that there exist values u > 1 and v > 1 such that each line is incident with u+1 points and each point is incident with v+1 lines; see [19, §1.5.3]. We say that (u, v) is the *order* of the quadrangle, and u, v are its *parameters*. In this paper, almost without exception the parameters will be infinite.

2.3. Subquadrangles. A subquadrangle (subGQ) of a generalized quadrangle  $\Gamma = (\mathfrak{P}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{I})$  is a generalized quadrangle  $\Gamma' = (\mathfrak{P}', \mathfrak{B}', \mathfrak{I}')$  such that  $\mathfrak{P}' \subseteq \mathfrak{P}, \mathfrak{B}' \subseteq \mathfrak{B}$ , and  $\mathfrak{I}' = \mathfrak{I} \cap \left( (\mathfrak{P}' \times \mathfrak{B}') \cup (\mathfrak{B}' \times \mathfrak{B}') \right)$ 

 $\mathcal{P}')$ ). We write  $\Gamma' \leq \Gamma$  to express that  $\Gamma'$  is a subGQ of  $\Gamma$ . If  $\Gamma' \leq \Gamma$  and if  $\Gamma'$  has the property that for every point *x* of  $\Gamma'$ , UIx in  $\Gamma$  implies that *U* is also a line of  $\Gamma'$ , then  $\Gamma'$  is an *ideal* subquadrangle.

2.4. **Regularity.** Let x, y be distinct noncollinear points in a thick generalized quadrangle. Then we say that the pair  $\{x, y\}$  is *regular* if there exists a (necessarily unique) thin ideal subGQ containing x and y. A point x is *regular* provided  $\{x, y\}$  is regular for every point y which is not collinear with x.

Regularity for lines is obtained by interchanging the role of points and lines.

It is easy to show that if a thick generalized quadrangle of order (u, v) has a regular pair of points (lines), then  $v \le u$  ( $u \le v$ ).

2.5. **Group notation.** If  $\Gamma = (\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{B}, I)$  is a generalized quadrangle, an *automorphism* is a permutation of  $\mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{B}$  which preserves  $\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$ , and incidence. The set of all automorphisms of  $\Gamma$  forms a group under composition of maps, which we denote by  $\operatorname{Aut}(\Gamma)$ . Each subgroup of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\Gamma)$  is called an *automorphism group*.

In general, if  $H \leq \text{Sym}(\Omega)$  is a group acting on a set  $\Omega$ , and if  $\omega \in \Omega$ , then  $H_{\omega}$  denotes the stabilizer of  $\omega$  in H.

#### 3. TRANSLATION GENERALIZED QUADRANGLES

3.1. Translation generalized quadrangles. A translation generalized quadrangle (TGQ) is a generalized quadrangle  $\Gamma$  for which there is an abelian automorphism group A that fixes each line incident with some point x, while acting sharply transitively on the points not collinear with x. We call the latter points the *affine points* (with respect to, or relative to, x), and x is called *translation point*. The group A is the *translation group*. For the sake of convenience, one should also bear a similar notion in mind for thin quadrangles.

It is possible to show that, as in the case of translation planes, the group A is the unique translation group for the point x. There might be more than one translation point, however, but this is not essential for this paper. To make explicit the translation point and/or translation group, we also write  $\Gamma^x$  or  $(\Gamma, A)$  or  $(\Gamma^x, A)$ , or even  $(\Gamma, x, A)$ , for  $\Gamma$ . So the reader should understand that a morphism

(2) 
$$\rho: (\Gamma, x, A) \mapsto (\Gamma', x', A')$$

maps  $\Gamma$  to  $\Gamma'$  and x to x', and necessarily A to A'.

We refer the reader to [10, chapter 8] and the monograph [12] for the basics on TGQs.

3.2. Kantor families. Keep using the notation of the previous subsection.

Suppose z is an affine point. Let

(3) 
$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{F} = \{A_M \mid M \mathbb{I}z\}; \\ \mathcal{F}^* = \{A_m \mid x \sim m \sim z\}. \end{cases}$$

Denote  $A_m$  also by  $A_M^*$ . Then for all LIz we have the following properties:

-(KF1)-  $A_L \leq A_L^* \neq A_L$ ; -(KF2)-  $A_L A_M^* = A$  for  $M \neq L$ ; -(KF3)-  $A_U A_V \cap A_W = \{\text{id}\}$  for distinct lines U, V, W; -(KF4)-  $\{A_L^*/A_L\} \cup \{A_L A_M/A_L \mid M \neq L\}$  is a partition of  $A/A_L$ .

Conversely, if families of subgroups  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{F}^*$  have the properties (KF1)–(KF4) in an abelian group A which a priori need not be related to a TGQ, one says that  $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F}^*)$  or  $(A, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F}^*)$  is a *Kantor* family (in A). Starting from a Kantor family, one can construct a TGQ, using a natural group coset geometry respresentation [10, 12]. If one starts from a TGQ as above, it is isomorphic to the reconstructed coset geometry (the isomorphism class of the geometry is independent of the chosen affine point z), and the elements of  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{F}^*$  play the expected role. This representation method was noted for a more general class of generalized quadrangles (namely, for so-called *elation generalized quadrangles*) by Kantor [9] in the finite case, and carries over without much change to the infinite case [1].

3.3. Symmetry and regularity. It is easy to see that if LIx, and  $M \sim L$ , M not incident with x, then  $A_M$  fixes each line of  $L^{\perp}$ , while acting sharply transitively on the points of M which are not on L. One notes that  $A_M$  is independent of the choice of  $M \sim L$ . Call a line L allowing such a group, in general, an *axis of symmetry*. Dually, one defines *center of symmetry*. Note that an axis of symmetry is regular, and so is a center of symmetry.

3.4. **Kernel.** The *kernel* of the TGQ  $(\Gamma, A)$  is the set of endomorphisms  $\xi : A \mapsto A$  for which  $A_U^{\xi} \leq A_U$  for all UIx, foreseen with natural addition and multiplication (inherited from the endomorphism ring of A). We denote the kernel by  $\operatorname{end}^t(A, A)$ .

It can be shown that  $end^{t}(A, A)$  is an integral domain [6]. For the finite case, one can show more.

**Theorem 3.1** ([10], chapter 8). If  $(\Gamma, A)$  is a finite TGQ, its kernel is a commutative field.

**Remark 3.2.** In [10], a short geometric proof is given of Theorem 3.1. One could also apply Wedderburn's Little Theorem to conclude that the finite integral domain  $\text{end}^{t}(A, A)$  is a commutative field.

Suppose now that  $(\Gamma, A)$  is a TGQ for which  $\operatorname{end}^t(A, A)$  contains a division ring k. Then A, and any element of  $\mathcal{F} \cup \mathcal{F}^*$ , can be seen as vector spaces over k. Passing to projective space  $\mathbb{P}$ , we obtain a projective representation of  $(\Gamma, A)$ , and the affine points of  $\Gamma$  coincide with the points in an affine space  $\mathbb{A}$  of the same dimension as  $\mathbb{P}$ . Denote the hyperplane at infinity by  $\mathbb{P}'$ ; the group A acts as the group of translations of  $\mathbb{P}$  with axis  $\mathbb{P}'$ . The elements of  $\mathcal{F}$  define subspaces of  $\mathbb{P}$ , and their intersections with  $\mathbb{P}'$  define a set of subspaces of  $\mathbb{P}'$  which one usually calls "egg."

For more details we refer to [12].

## 4. BASIC STRUCTURAL LEMMAS

4.1. Setting. In this setting,  $S = S^x = (S^x, A)$  is a TGQ with translation point x and translation group A. We suppose that the number of points (and so also the number of lines) is not finite. Let z be a fixed affine point, and let  $(A, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F}^*)$  be the Kantor family in A defined by z.

The kernel  $\ell$  is defined as above, and we suppose, by way of contradiction, that k is not a division ring.

4.2. **Injectivity.** The proof of the next lemma is essentially the same as in the finite case (which can be found in [10, chapter 8]). We include its proof for the sake of convenience. We will use the representation by coset geometries as in [10, chapter 8]. (It is the only place in the paper where this method is used.) Below,  $\ell^{\times} := \ell \setminus \{0\}$ .

**Lemma 4.1.** Each element of  $\ell^{\times}$  is injective.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\beta \in \ell$  is such that  $a_0^{\beta} = \operatorname{id}$  for some  $a_0 \in A_0 \setminus \{\operatorname{id}\}, A_0 \in \mathcal{F}$ ; then we must show that  $\beta = 0$ . (The choice of  $A_0$  is arbitrary. If  $\beta$  has a fixed point not in  $\bigcup_{V \in \mathcal{F}} V$ , then it has a fixed point in each  $V \setminus \{\operatorname{id}\}$  as well.) Assume the contrary. Choose any element  $a_i \in A_i \setminus \{\operatorname{id}\}$ , with  $A_i \in \mathcal{F} \setminus \{A_0\}$ . Then the point  $a_0a_i$  is at distance two from id in the collinearity graph of  $S^x$ . Since  $S^x$  is thick there exist elements  $a_l \in A_l \setminus \{\operatorname{id}\}$  and  $a_k \in A_k \setminus \{\operatorname{id}\}$ , where  $A_k, A_l \in \mathcal{F}$ ,  $\{A_l, A_k\} \cap \{A_0, A_1\} = \emptyset$  and  $A_l \neq A_k$ , such that

Letting  $\beta$  act yields  $a_i^{\beta} = a_l^{\beta} a_k^{\beta}$ . First suppose that  $a_l^{\beta} = \operatorname{id}$ ; then  $a_i^{\beta} = a_k^{\beta}$ . Since  $A_i \cap A_k = \{\operatorname{id}\}$  we obtain that  $a_i^{\beta} = \operatorname{id}$ . Analogously  $a_k^{\beta} = \operatorname{id}$  implies that  $a_i^{\beta} = \operatorname{id}$ . Next suppose that neither  $a_l^{\beta}$  nor  $a_k^{\beta}$  equals id. In this case the line  $A_l a_k^{\beta}$  of  $S^x$  intersects the line  $A_k$  in  $a_k^{\beta} \neq \operatorname{id}$  and intersects the line  $A_i$  in  $a_i^{\beta} \neq \operatorname{id}$ . Hence we have found a triangle in  $S^x$ , a contradiction. We conclude that  $a_i^{\beta} = \operatorname{id}$ , and henceforth that  $V^{\beta} = \operatorname{id}$ , for all  $V \in \mathcal{F}$ . By the connectedness of  $S^x$  we know that  $A = \langle V \mid V \in \mathcal{F} \rangle$ , and hence it follows that  $A^{\beta} = \operatorname{id}$ , that is,

$$\beta = 0$$

-	-		

4.3. The GQs  $S(\alpha, z)$ . Let  $\alpha \in \ell^{\times}$ , and z an affine point. To avoid trivialities, suppose that  $\alpha$  is not a unit.

It is easy to see that  $(A^{\alpha}, \mathcal{F}^{\alpha}, (\mathcal{F}^{*})^{\alpha})$  (obvious notation) defines a Kantor family in  $A^{\alpha}$ . Moreover, the GQ  $S(\alpha, z)$  defined by this Kantor family is thick, and it is *ideal*. One can derive these properties easily from Lemma 4.1:

**Corollary 4.2.** For each  $\alpha \in \ell^{\times}$ ,  $S(\alpha, z) \cong S$ , and  $S(\alpha, z)$  is an ideal subquadrangle of S.

Proof. Immediate.

Throughout this paper, we will fix z, so that for instance we write  $S(\alpha)$  instead of  $S(\alpha, z)$ .

#### 5. Adjoining automorphisms

We keep using the notation of the previous section.

Now for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have that  $S(\alpha^n) \cong S$ , and  $S(\alpha^n) \preceq S$ . Of course, we can also see S as the image under  $\alpha$  of a GQ  $S(\alpha^{-1})$  containing S. So we have a chain  $\mathcal{C}$  of (embeddings of) isomorphic generalized quadrangles

(6) 
$$\cdots \succeq \mathfrak{S}(\alpha^{-1}) \succeq \mathfrak{S} \succeq \mathfrak{S}(\alpha) \succeq \mathfrak{S}(\alpha^2) \succeq \cdots$$

indexed by the integers. Each of these quadrangles contains x and z, and each  $S(\alpha^u)$  contains  $S(\alpha^v)$  as an ideal subGQ if  $v \ge u$ . Moreover, if  $A^{(i)}$  denotes the translation group of  $(S(\alpha^i), x)$ , then  $A^{(i)} = A^{\alpha^i}$ , and we have a chain of isomorphic groups

(7) 
$$\cdots \ge A^{(-1)} \ge A \ge A^{(1)} \ge A^{(2)} \ge \cdots$$

It is clear that

(8) 
$$\left(\bigcup_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}\mathfrak{S}(\alpha^{i}),\bigcup_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}A^{(i)}\right)=:\left(\widetilde{\mathfrak{S}(\alpha)},\widetilde{A(\alpha)}\right)$$

is a translation generalized quadrangle with translation point x, and since  $\alpha$  stabilizes the chain  $\mathcal{C}$ , the limit of  $\alpha$  is an automorphism of  $\widetilde{\mathcal{S}(\alpha)}$ , which we denote by  $\widetilde{\alpha}$ , that fixes x and z linewise. As such, we have "adjoined  $\alpha$  to  $\mathcal{S}$ " to obtain a new quadrangle for which  $\alpha$  has become an automorphism. Note that  $\widetilde{\alpha}$  induces a unit in the kernel of  $\widetilde{\mathcal{S}(\alpha)}$  (relative to z), and so  $\widetilde{\alpha} \in \operatorname{Aut}(\widetilde{A(\alpha)})$ .

Finally, observe the following.

**Observation 5.1.** For  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\tilde{\alpha}$  induces  $\alpha : S(\alpha^j) \mapsto S(\alpha^{j+1}) \preceq S(\alpha^j)$ . Similarly, it induces an element of end<sup>t</sup>( $A(\alpha^j), A(\alpha^j)$ ).

**Remark 5.2.** As in the introduction, it is clear that  $\bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} S(\alpha^i)$  is isomorphic to the direct limit of the directed system

(9)  $\cdots \xrightarrow{\alpha} S \xrightarrow{\alpha} S \xrightarrow{\alpha} \cdots,$ 

and the similar remark is true for  $\bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} A^{(i)}$ .

## 6. Proof of Theorem 1.2

Now let  $\beta$  be a nontrivial element of the kernel of  $\widehat{S(\alpha)}$ , and suppose it is not a unit. Applying the same construction as above to the pair  $(\widehat{S(\alpha)}, \beta)$ , we obtain a TGQ  $\widehat{S(\alpha)}(\beta)$  by adjoining  $\beta$  which we denote by  $\widehat{S(\alpha, \beta)}$ . It is important to note that the limit of  $\alpha$  through this chain still makes sense, and so  $\alpha$  "remains" an automorphism of  $\widehat{S(\alpha, \beta)}$  (see Observation 6.1). In general, we also use the notation  $\widehat{S(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots)}$ , or also  $\widehat{S(S)}$  if S is an ordered set.

In the next observation, we will use exponential notation for endomorphisms acting on groups and group elements. However if we switch to affine spaces further on, then usually we use additive notation, so that both  $b^m$  and  $m \cdot b$  will be used in different contexts ( $m \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ ) for the same action — this is particularly useful when the endomorphism "to the power m" can be interpreted as a homothecy (such as in Theorem 6.7).

Consider the next observation.

**Observation 6.1.** (a) If  $\alpha \neq \beta$  in  $S(\alpha, \beta)$ , then they also do not agree on  $\widetilde{S(\alpha)}$ .

(b) Let  $(\Gamma, B)$  be a TGQ with kernel  $\wp$ , and consider the endomorphism  $\widehat{m} : B \mapsto B : b \mapsto b^m$ , with  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\widehat{m} \in \wp$ . Now let  $\ell_m$  be the kernel of  $(\widetilde{\mathbb{S}(\widehat{m})}, \widetilde{A(\widehat{m})})$ , and let  $\epsilon \in \ell_m$  be a non-unit. Then

(10) 
$$\widehat{m}: \widetilde{A(\widehat{m}, \epsilon)} \mapsto \widetilde{A(\widehat{m}, \epsilon)}: b \mapsto b^m$$

is an element of the kernel  $\ell_{m,\epsilon}$  of  $(\widetilde{\mathbb{S}(\widehat{m},\epsilon)}, \widetilde{A(\widehat{m},\epsilon)})$ . Moreover, it is a unit, and it induces  $\widehat{m}$  on any group  $\widetilde{A(\widehat{m})}(\epsilon^j)$ ,  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . In particular, it induces  $\widehat{m}$  on  $\widetilde{A(\widehat{m})}(\epsilon^0) = \widetilde{A(\widehat{m})}$ .

(c) The same property as in (b) holds if one replaces  $\{\epsilon\}$  by any finite or countable set  $\{\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2, \ldots\}$ .

Proof. Part (a) is obvious.

For part (b), first observe that as *B* is abelian,  $\hat{m}$  indeed is an endomorphism of *B*. Moreover, it maps any subgroup into itself, so it is an element of end<sup>t</sup>(*B*, *B*). Now consider

(11) 
$$\widehat{m}: \widetilde{A(\widetilde{m},\epsilon)} \mapsto \widetilde{A(\widetilde{m},\epsilon)}: b \mapsto b^m$$

We already know it is part of  $\ell_{m,\epsilon}$ . As each  $\widetilde{A(\hat{m})}(\epsilon^j)$  is a subgroup of  $\widetilde{A(\hat{m},\epsilon)}$ ,  $\widehat{m}$  induces a kernel element of the TGQ  $\left(\widetilde{\mathfrak{S}(\hat{m})}(\epsilon^j), \widetilde{A(\hat{m})}(\epsilon^j)\right)$  for any  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . For each such j, we have an isomorphism of TGQs

(12) 
$$\left(\widetilde{\mathscr{S}(\widehat{m})}, \widetilde{A(\widehat{m})}\right) \xrightarrow{\epsilon^{j}} \left(\widetilde{\mathscr{S}(\widehat{m})}(\epsilon^{j}), \widetilde{A(\widehat{m})}(\epsilon^{j})\right),$$

and it maps  $\widetilde{A(\widehat{m})}$  to  $\widetilde{A(\widehat{m})}(\epsilon^j) = \epsilon^{-j} \widetilde{A(\widehat{m})} \epsilon^j$ . For any element  $b^{\epsilon^j}$  of the latter, we have

(13) 
$$(b^{\epsilon^j})^m = (b^m)^{\epsilon^j},$$

that is, the following diagram commutes:

$$\overbrace{A(\widehat{m})}^{\epsilon^{j}} \xrightarrow{\epsilon^{j}} \widetilde{A(\widehat{m})}(\epsilon^{j})$$

$$\overbrace{A(\widehat{m})}^{\widehat{m}} \xrightarrow{\epsilon^{j}} \widetilde{A(\widehat{m})}(\epsilon^{j})$$

as  $\epsilon^j$  is a group morphism.

It now follows indeed that  $\widehat{m}$  is also a unit in  $\ell_{m,\epsilon}$ .

Part (c) follows immediately from part (b).

**Corollary 6.2.** Once a non-unit of type  $\widehat{m}$ ,  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , in the kernel  $\ell$  of  $(\mathfrak{S}, A)$  has been adjoined to  $(\mathfrak{S}, A)$ , the obtained unit  $\widehat{m}$  is stable under adjoints.

**Observation 6.3** (The quadrangles  $\widetilde{S(\mathbb{N})}$ ). For any TGQ (S, A), the TGQ  $(\widetilde{S(\mathbb{N})}, \widetilde{A(\mathbb{N})})$  has a kernel which contains the prime field  $k := \langle 0, 1 \rangle$  (which is by definition generated by 0 and 1 in the kernel of (S, A)).

*Proof.* Each endomorphism  $\widehat{m}$  with  $0 \neq m \in \mathbb{N}$  is a unit in  $\text{end}^{t}(A(\mathbb{N}), A(\mathbb{N}))$ .

The field *k* either is a finite field of prime order, or the field of rationals  $\mathbb{Q}$ .

**Remark 6.4.** Note that  $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}(\mathbb{N})} = \widetilde{\mathbb{S}(\mathbb{Z})} = \widetilde{\mathbb{S}(\mathbb{Q})} = \widetilde{\mathbb{S}(P)}$ , with *P* the set of primes in  $\mathbb{N}$ .

We will only need the first part of the statement of the next observation.

**Observation 6.5** (Transfer of automorphisms). Let  $(\Gamma, u, C)$  and  $(\Gamma', u', C')$  be TGQs, and suppose  $\gamma : (\Gamma, u, C) \mapsto (\Gamma', u', C')$  is an isomorphism (which maps u to u'). Suppose moreover that the kernel of  $(\Gamma, u, C)$  contains a prime field  $\wp$ . Then  $\gamma$  induces a semilinear isomorphism between the projective spaces  $\mathbb{P}$  and  $\mathbb{P}'$  which arise from interpreting C, respectively C', as a vector space over  $\wp$ , respectively  $\wp^{\gamma}$ . Moreover, this isomorphism maps the egg of  $\Gamma$  in  $\mathbb{P}$  to the egg of  $\Gamma'$  in  $\mathbb{P}'$ .

*Proof.* The proof is essentially the same as the proof of [12, Theorem 3.7.2] (which is stated for the case  $(\Gamma, u, C) = (\Gamma', u', C')$ , and where the finiteness assumption is not used), or as the (concise) proof of [2, Lemma 1].

Let  $\eta$  be the map — by Observation 6.5, it is in fact a covariant functor — which associates with a TGQ  $(\Gamma, C)$  such as in Observation 6.5 the projective space  $\mathbb{P}$  over  $\wp$ . Using Observation 6.5 and assuming that some TGQ  $(\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\mathbb{N}), \widetilde{A}(\mathbb{N}))$  is not linear, then with  $\gamma$  a non-unit in its kernel, we will show that the commutativity of the diagram



(eventually) leads to the desired contradiction in the proof of the next theorem. We first state a lemma which is a variation on Lemma 6.1(b).

**Lemma 6.6.** Let  $(\mathfrak{S}, A)$  be a TGQ, and suppose its kernel  $\ell$  is not a division ring. Consider  $(\mathfrak{S}(\mathbb{N}), A(\mathbb{N}))$ , and let  $\tilde{\ell}$  be the kernel of the latter quadrangle. Let  $\beta$  be in  $\tilde{\ell}^{\times}$ , and suppose it is not a unit. Let  $r(\beta) \neq 0$  and  $h(\beta) \neq 0$  be elements in  $\mathbb{Z}[\beta]$ ; then both are also elements of  $\tilde{\ell}^{\times}$  as  $\beta \in \tilde{\ell}$ .

- (a) For each  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $h(\beta)$  can be naturally seen as an element in the kernel of  $\widetilde{S}(\mathbb{N})(r(\beta)^i)$ .
- (b) If S(N)(r(β)<sup>u</sup>) ≤ S(N)(r(β)<sup>v</sup>), then h(β) for the latter quadrangle induces h(β) for the former. In particular, this is true when u = 1.
- (c) In (a) and (b), S(N) can be replaced by S(N, S), with S any subset of Z[β] \ {0}. In particular, (a) also holds when S(N)(r(β)<sup>i</sup>) is replaced by S(N)(r(β)).

*Proof.* Part (a) follows from the fact that for each  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ , the following diagram (where the horizontal arrows are isomorphisms) commutes:



as  $\mathbb{Z}[\beta]$  is a commutative ring. That is,  $h(\beta)$ , as an element in the kernel of  $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}(\mathbb{N})}(r(\beta)^i)$ , is defined as  $r(\beta)^{-i}h(\beta)r(\beta)^i$ .

Part (b) follows from the proof of (a).

Part (c) readily follows from the proofs of (a) and (b).

**Theorem 6.7.** Let (S, A) be a TGQ, and suppose its kernel  $\ell$  is not a division ring. Consider  $(\widetilde{S(\mathbb{N})}, \widetilde{A(\mathbb{N})})$ . Then its kernel is a division ring.

*Proof.* Let  $\tilde{\ell}$  be the kernel of  $(\widetilde{\mathbb{S}(\mathbb{N})}, \widetilde{A(\mathbb{N})})$ . Suppose  $\alpha \in \tilde{\ell}^{\times}$  is not a unit for  $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}(\mathbb{N})}$ , and consider the sequence

(14) 
$$S \hookrightarrow \widetilde{S(\mathbb{N})} \hookrightarrow \widetilde{S(\mathbb{Z}[\alpha])}.$$

The kernel of  $(\widehat{S}(\mathbb{N}), \widehat{A}(\mathbb{N}))$  contains a prime field  $k := \langle 0, 1 \rangle$ . We can projectively represent the latter quadrangle in a projective space  $\mathbb{P}$  over k. The affine points of the quadrangle correspond to the points of  $\mathbb{A} := \mathbb{P} \setminus \mathbb{P}'$ , where  $\mathbb{P}'$  is a hyperplane in  $\mathbb{P}$ , and  $z \in \mathbb{A}$ .

For any  $g(\alpha) \in \mathbb{Z}[\alpha] \setminus \{0\}$  (noting as before that  $g(\alpha) \in \tilde{\ell}^{\times}$ , as  $\alpha$  is), consider the isomorphism

(15) 
$$g(\alpha): (\widehat{\mathbb{S}}(\overline{\mathbb{N}}), \widehat{A}(\overline{\mathbb{N}})) \longrightarrow (\widehat{\mathbb{S}}(\overline{\mathbb{N}})(g(\alpha)), \widehat{A}(\overline{\mathbb{N}})(g(\alpha)));$$

then we can see the affine points of the latter quadrangle as a subset of  $\mathbb{A}$  which is also an affine space over k; also, the stabilizers in  $\widetilde{A(\mathbb{N})}(g(\alpha))$  of the  $\widetilde{S(\mathbb{N})}(g(\alpha))$ -quadrangle lines incident with the point z define projective k-spaces which determine the same egg elements in  $\mathbb{P}'$  as the (same) line stabilizers in  $\widetilde{A(\mathbb{N})}$ . One observes now (by Observation 6.5) that  $g(\alpha)$  induces a semilinear isomorphism between the projective space  $\mathbb{P}$  and the projective space  $\mathbb{P}^{g(\alpha)} = \widetilde{\mathbb{P}(\mathbb{N})}(g(\alpha))$  which corresponds to  $\widetilde{S(\mathbb{N})}(g(\alpha))$ . Considering again  $\widetilde{S(\mathbb{Z}[\alpha])}$ , one notes that its kernel contains the commutative field  $k(\alpha)$ . It has a projective interpretation in a projective space  $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$  over a field  $\widehat{k}$  that contains  $k(\alpha)$  and we can see  $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$  naturally as the union

(16) 
$$\bigcup_{f(\alpha)\in\mathbb{Z}[\alpha]} \mathbb{P}(\widetilde{\alpha,f(\alpha)})$$

where  $\mathbb{P}(\alpha, f(\alpha))$  is the space corresponding to  $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{N}, \alpha, f(\alpha))$  and similar notation will be used for more general sets. (If one orders  $\mathbb{Z}[\alpha]$  as  $f_0(\alpha), f_1(\alpha), \ldots$ , and for each  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  we put  $F_i :=$  $\{f_0(\alpha), \ldots, f_i(\alpha)\}$ , then  $\widehat{\mathbb{P}} = \bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{P}(F_i)$ , but this amounts to the same thing.) The "limit"  $\widehat{\alpha}$  of  $\alpha$  is an automorphism of  $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Z}[\alpha])$  which fixes all TGQ-lines incident with z (and also all the TGQ-lines incident with x). One observes that it is induced by a homology of  $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$  with axis  $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}'$  (the hyperplane containing  $\mathbb{P}'$ ) and center z (this is a general property — see [6] — but can readily be deduced from the current proof as well); in the affine space  $\widehat{\mathbb{A}}$  corresponding to the affine points of  $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Z}[\alpha])$ , it induces a homothecy with center z and factor  $\alpha$  (considered as an element of  $\widehat{k}$ ) by Lemma 6.6. Now fix a k-base  $\mathcal{B}$  of  $\mathbb{A}$  such that the coordinates of z are  $(0, \ldots, 0)$ . (Here, a point has coordinates  $(x_i)_{i \in I}$  for some index set I that contains 1, and  $(0, \ldots, 0)$  denotes the point with all entries 0.) By construction, the affine point set of  $\widehat{\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{N})}$  consists precisely of all points with coordinates in k. The base  $\mathcal{B}$  also is a  $\widehat{k}$ -base of  $\widehat{\mathbb{A}}$ . This follows from the equality  $\widehat{\mathbb{P}} = \bigcup_{f(\alpha) \in \mathbb{Z}[\alpha]} \mathbb{P}(\alpha, f(\alpha))$ ; the affine

part of each component  $\mathbb{P}(\alpha, h(\alpha))$  in the right-hand side can be expressed relative to any fixed chosen base of  $\mathbb{A}$ . In fact, the same equality leads to much stronger consequences, most notably a number of obstructions, since  $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$  and each  $\mathbb{P}(\alpha, f(\alpha))$  share the same lines on z by construction. For example, consider a point  $z' = (y_i)_I$  with  $y_1 = 1$  and the other entries 0. Then  $\langle z, z' \rangle_{\widehat{\mathbb{P}}} \cap \mathbb{A}$  is a group isomorphic to (k, +), and  $\widehat{\alpha}$  induces an endomorphism of the latter (since  $\mathbb{A}^{\widehat{\alpha}} = \mathbb{A}^{\alpha} \subseteq \mathbb{A}$ by assumption and  $\langle z, z' \rangle_{\widehat{\mathbb{P}}}$  is fixed by  $\widehat{\alpha}$ ). Since k is a prime field, it follows that  $\widehat{\alpha}$  corresponds to multiplying with a factor from  $k^{\times}$ , that is,  $\alpha$  already was a unit in the kernel of  $(\widehat{S(\mathbb{N})}, \widehat{A(\mathbb{N})})$  (and even contained in k), contradiction.

The theorem is proved.

**Corollary 6.8.** If the kernel of a TGQ (S, A) contains a division ring, it <u>is</u> a division ring.

*Proof.* Let  $(\mathcal{S}, A)$  be as in the statement, and let  $\ell$  be its kernel. If  $\wp$  is a division ring contained in  $\ell$ , it follows that  $(\mathcal{S}, A) = (\widetilde{\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{N})}, \widetilde{A(\mathbb{N})})$  (since  $\langle 0, 1 \rangle \leq \wp$  is a field), so it suffices to apply Theorem 6.7.

This ends the proof of Theorem 1.2.

**Remark 6.9** (Other proofs). Note that one can find a contradiction in a different but similar fashion, by observing that if  $g(\alpha)$  (and in particular  $\alpha$ ) is not a unit,  $\mathbb{P}^{g(\alpha)}$  is a projective space inside  $\mathbb{P}$  which is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{P}$ . Now we can use the fact again that k is a prime field. (This proof is essentially the same as the one we presented above, but does not use the explicit construction of  $k(\alpha)$ , and the interpretation of  $\alpha$  as homothecy, which might be instructive for some readers.) Theorem 6.7 can also be obtained in an *entirely different* fashion, still assuming the existence of  $\alpha$  by way of contradiction, by using §10.1 (the paragraph after Observation 10.1).

If  $(\mathfrak{S}, A)$  is a TGQ, call a TGQ  $(\widetilde{\mathfrak{S}}, \widetilde{A})$  an *ambient TGQ* (of  $(\mathfrak{S}, A)$ ) if  $\widetilde{\mathfrak{S}} \succeq \mathfrak{S}$  ideally while sharing translation points,  $\widetilde{A} \geq A$ , and if the kernel of  $(\widetilde{\mathfrak{S}}, \widetilde{A})$  is a division ring (that is,  $(\widetilde{\mathfrak{S}}, \widetilde{A})$  has a projective representation). Then Theorem 6.7 says that any TGQ  $(\mathfrak{S}, A)$  has ambient TGQs.

## 7. COMPACT CONNECTED TGQS ARE LINEAR

The main result in this section was suggested to me by an anonymous referee, who I gratefully acknowledge.

Let (S, A) be a compact connected TGQ (for precise definitions, we refer the reader to Joswig [8]). Then Joswig has showed in [8, Theorem 5.4] that its *topological kernel*  $\ell^{\#}$  (which by definition consists of the continuous elements of the kernel  $\ell$ ) either is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}$  or  $\mathbb{C}$ . Let  $(\tilde{S}, \tilde{A})$  be the ambient TGQ defined in Theorem 6.7, and let  $\ell^*$  be its kernel. By [8, Corollary 3.3], the (real) dimension 2s + t of  $(\tilde{S}, \tilde{A})$  is finite, so that the  $\ell^*$ -parameters are finite, and the dimension of  $\ell^*$  as a division algebra over  $\mathbb{R}$  also is finite. Then by Frobenius's classification of finite-dimensional division algebras over the reals [5],  $\ell^*$  is isomorphic to one of  $\mathbb{R}$ ,  $\mathbb{C}$  or  $\mathbb{H}$ . By the same proof as in [8, Theorem 5.4], the case  $\mathbb{H}$  can be excluded. If  $\ell^*$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}$ , it follows that  $\ell^{\#} \cong \ell$ , and then (S, A) is linear, so suppose that  $\ell^*$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{C}$ . By way of contradiction, suppose that  $\ell^{\#}$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}$ . If (s', t') are the  $\mathbb{C}$ -parameters of  $(\tilde{S}, \tilde{A})$ , then it follows that the topological parameters must be odd, as in [8, Corollary 5.7(d)] (note that in [8, Corollary 5.7], the first three cases (a)-(b)-(c) describe linear TGQs). So

(17) 
$$\ell^{\#} = \ell^* = \ell,$$

and  $(\mathcal{S}, A)$  is linear.

**Theorem 7.1.** If (S, A) is a compact connected topological TGQ, then it is linear, and its topological kernel coincides with the kernel.

## 8. The characteristic of a TGQ

Let  $(\mathfrak{S}, A)$  be a TGQ, and let  $(\mathfrak{S}, \widetilde{A})$  be an ambient TGQ. Then we call the characteristic of the prime field of its kernel k the *characteristic* of  $(\mathfrak{S}, A)$ . We need to show that this notion is independent of the choice of ambient TGQ.

Let the characteristic be 0; then the endomorphism 1 group theoretically generates  $(\mathbb{Z}, +)$  in end<sup>t</sup>(A, A). If  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  is not a unit in end<sup>t</sup>(A, A), then we have a chain of strict embeddings

(18) 
$$\cdots \succeq \mathfrak{S}(1/\widehat{m}) \succeq \mathfrak{S} \succeq \mathfrak{S}(\widehat{m}) \succeq \mathfrak{S}(m^2) \succeq \cdots$$

We will see in the next section that this implies that any other ambient TGQ also yields characteristic 0. And we will observe that if the characteristic is p > 0 for some ambient TGQ, it is so for *every* ambient TGQ.

## 9. TGQs in positive characteristic

Now let  $(\mathfrak{S}, A)$  be a TGQ with kernel  $\ell$ , and suppose that 0 and 1 generate  $\langle 0, 1 \rangle \cong \mathbb{F}_p$ , p a prime, in the kernel k of  $(\widetilde{\mathfrak{S}(\mathbb{N})}, \widetilde{A(\mathbb{N})})$ . Represent the latter quadrangle in a projective space  $\mathbb{P}$  over  $\mathbb{F}_p$ , with affine point set  $\mathbb{A} = \mathbb{P} \setminus \mathbb{P}'$ , with  $\mathbb{P}'$  a hyperplane in  $\mathbb{P}$ . Suppose  $\lambda \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ , and interpret  $\lambda \in \mathbb{F}_p^{\times}$  through the ring morphism  $\mathbb{Z} \mapsto \mathbb{F}_p$ ; suppose it is not a unit in  $\ell$  (and note that it is contained in  $\mathrm{end}^{\mathrm{t}}(A, A)$ ). Then  $\mathcal{S}^{\lambda^k} \neq \mathcal{S}^{\lambda^j} \preceq \mathcal{S}^{\lambda^k}$  for all positive  $j, k \neq 0$  with k < j. This contradicts the fact that  $\lambda^{p-1} = \mathrm{id}$ .

It follows that  $S = \widetilde{S(\mathbb{N})}$ , and by Corollary 6.8 we conclude that the kernel of (S, A) is a division ring.

This solves Conjecture 1.1 in positive characteristic.

Note that it follows that any ambient TGQ of  $(\mathfrak{S}, A)$  has characteristic p if  $(\mathfrak{S}(\mathbb{N}), A(\mathbb{N}))$  has. It is now straightforward to conclude that if  $(\mathfrak{S}(\mathbb{N}), A(\mathbb{N}))$  would have characteristic 0, then any other ambient TGQ also lives in characteristic 0.

### 10. Remarks on characteristic 0

We now suppose that  $(S^x, A)$  is a TGQ in characteristic 0. As before, z is a fixed affine point.

10.1. The core of  $(S^x, A)$ . Define the *core*  $\Delta$  of  $(S^x, A)$  to be the intersection of all ideal subGQs (both thick and thin) of S, which contain x and z.

**Observation 10.1.** Suppose  $\Delta$  is thick. Then  $\Delta$  is a TGQ with translation point x which is linear.

*Proof.* Let  $\kappa \neq 0$  be an element of the kernel of  $\Delta$ . Then if  $\Delta^{\kappa} \neq \Delta$ , we have that  $\Delta^{\kappa}$  is a proper ideal subGQ of  $\Delta$  that contains x and z, contradiction.

Now  $\Delta$  also is an ideal subquadrangle of  $(\tilde{\mathbb{S}}, \tilde{A}) := (\mathbb{S}(\mathbb{N}), \tilde{A}(\mathbb{N}))$  containing x and z. Represent the latter in a projective space  $\mathbb{P}$  over the prime field  $\mathbb{Q} \cong \langle 0, 1 \rangle \leq k$ . If  $\Delta$  is thick, then all projective lines on z which contain at least one other affine point of  $\Delta$  must be completely contained in  $\Delta$ , by the action of  $\langle 0, 1 \rangle$  by homothecies. In fact, the core precisely singles out all projective lines over  $\langle 0, 1 \rangle$  which are incident with z and completely contained in  $\mathbb{S}$  (and such lines always exist).

Let  $A_{\Delta} \leq A$  be the translation group of  $\Delta$  relative to the translation point x. Then A forms a vector space over  $\langle 0, 1 \rangle$ . Denote the corresponding affine space by  $\mathbb{A}_{\Delta}$ .

## **Conjecture 10.2.** dim $\mathbb{A}_{\Delta} = \dim \mathbb{A}$ .

If Conjecture 10.2 is true, it immediately follows that

(19) 
$$\Delta = S = \widetilde{S}.$$

So if Conjecture 10.2 is true,  $\Delta$  must be a thin ideal subGQ, implying that x is a regular point in S. Since  $S^x$  is a TGQ, x is a center of symmetry and its symmetries are contained in A.

10.2. The finite case. In the finite case, this combinatorial situation — a center of symmetry which is incident only with axes of symmetry — already would lead to the desired contradiction: if a finite thick generalized quadrangle of order (u, v) has a regular point which is incident with only regular lines, then u = v and u is even — see [10, 1.5.2]. For (infinite) Moufang quadrangles, the existence of a regular point and a regular line also is sufficient to conclude that one is working in characteristic 2, see Tits [17] and also [18]. But with only local Moufang conditions, this is no longer true. For, consider any infinite field k; then in  $\mathbb{P}^2(k)$  there exists a set S of points such that any line meets S in precisely two distinct elements. Embed  $\mathbb{P}^2(k)$  as a hyperplane in  $\mathbb{P}^3(k)$ , choose a point  $z \in \mathbb{P}^3(k) \setminus \mathbb{P}^2(k)$ , and choose a point  $c \in S$ . For any  $s \in S$ , define the group  $T_s := T_{zs}$ , where T is the translation group of the affine space  $\mathbb{P}^3(k) \setminus \mathbb{P}^2(k)$ . Then  $\mathcal{F}_S = \{T_s \mid s \in S \setminus \{s\}\}$  defines a Kantor family in T, where  $\mathcal{F}^* = \{T_s^* \mid T_s^* = T_s \oplus T_c, s \neq c\}$ . The reader notices that from this Kantor family a TGQ arises with kernel k, and regular translation point.

10.3. Restricting non-linear TGQs in characteristic 0. Finally, we observe the following result.

**Observation 10.3.** If  $(S^x, A)$  is a TGQ which is not linear, then we have the following properties.

- (CH) It lives in characteristic 0.
- (CO) It properly and ideally contains a linear TGQ  $(\Delta, \underline{A})$  (the core).
- (AM) It is properly and ideally contained in a linear TGQ  $(\tilde{S}, \tilde{A})$  (the ambient TGQ).
- (DI)  $[\widetilde{A} : A] = |\mathbb{N}|.$

If (u, v) is the order of S, then  $u = v \notin \mathbb{N}$ ; this is also the order of the ambient TGQ  $\widetilde{S}$ .

*Proof.* We only need to prove the last statement. Since  $S^x$  is a TGQ, it contains regular lines, and so  $v \ge u$  (see §2.4). If  $\Delta$  is not thick, we know x is a regular point of S, so that  $v \le u$ . Next, suppose that  $\Delta$  is thick. Now let X be a line of  $\tilde{S}$  which is not contained in S. (Note that  $\tilde{S} \ne S$ since S is not linear.) Project every point of S on X; we obtain a set S of lines of S which partitions the point set of S, and which all meet X. Since the number of points of S is (u+1)(uv+1) = v, the order of S is v. Now observe that by construction of  $\tilde{S}$ , lines of S and  $\tilde{S}$  have the same number u of points (since each line of  $\tilde{S}$  is a countable union of lines of GQs isomorphic to S). It follows that

(20)  $u = |X| \ge |S| = v.$ 

We conclude that u = v.

10.4. **Final remarks.** If  $\Delta$  is thick, it is not hard to prove that  $\Delta$  and  $\tilde{S}$  have the same kernel.

Also, note that by Corollary 6.8, we have that a TGQ S with kernel  $\ell$  is nonlinear if and only if some  $\widehat{m}$  in  $\ell^{\times}$  ( $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ ) is not a unit. Since we know that  $\ell$  has to have characteristic 0, we conclude that for solving Conjecture 1.1, it is sufficient to handle the cases where  $\ell$  is a subring of  $\mathbb{Q}$ .

#### REFERENCES

- [1] L. BADER AND S. E. PAYNE. On infinite K-clan geometry, J. Geom. 63 (1998), 1-16.
- [2] L. BADER, G. LUNARDON AND I. PINNERI. A new semifield flock, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 86 (1999), 49-62.
- [3] M. BILIOTTI, V. JHA AND N. L. JOHNSON. Foundations of Translation Planes, Monogr. Textbooks Pure and Appl. Math. 243, Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, 2001.
- [4] R. H. BRUCK AND R. C. BOSE. The construction of translation planes from projective spaces, J. Algebra 1 (1964), 85–102.
- [5] F. G. FROBENIUS. Über lineare Substitutionen und bilineare Formen, J. reine angew. Math. 84 (1878), 1-63.
- [6] M. JOSWIG. Translation generalized quadrangles, Arch. Math. 67 (1996), 253–264.
- [7] \_\_\_\_\_\_. Pseudo-ovals, elation Laguerre planes, and translation generalized quadrangles, *Beiträge Algebra Geom.* 40 (1999), 141–152.
- [8] \_\_\_\_\_. Compact connected translation generalized quadrangles, Results Math. 38 (2000), 72-87.
- [9] W. M. KANTOR. Generalized quadrangles associated with  $G_2(q)$ , J. Combin. Theory Ser. A **29** (1980), 212–219.
- [10] S. E. PAYNE AND J. A. THAS. Finite Generalized Quadrangles, Second edition, EMS Series of Lectures in Mathematics, European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, 2009.
- [11] J. A. THAS. Translation 4-gonal configurations, Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Natur. (8) 56 (1974), 303–314.
- [12] J. A. THAS, K. THAS AND H. VAN MALDEGHEM. Translation Generalized Quadrangles, Series in Pure Mathematics 26, World Scientific, Singapore, 2006.
- [13] K. THAS. Symmetry in Finite Generalized Quadrangles, Frontiers in Mathematics 1, Birkhauser Verlag, Basel-Boston-Berlin, 2004.
- [14] \_\_\_\_\_. A Course on Elation Quadrangles, European Math. Soc. Publishing House, Zürich, 2012.
- [15] J. TITS. Sur la trialité et certains groupes qui s'en déduisent, Inst. Hautes Etudes Sci. Publ. Math. 2 (1959), 13-60.
- [16] \_\_\_\_\_. Buildings of Spherical Type and Finite BN-Pairs, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 386, Springer-Verlag, Berlin—New York, 1974.
- [17] \_\_\_\_\_. Quadrangles de Moufang, I, Unpublished preprint, 1976.
- [18] J. TITS AND R. M. WEISS. Moufang Polygons, Springer Monogr. Math., Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2002.
- [19] H. VAN MALDEGHEM. Generalized Polygons, Monographs in Mathematics 93, Birkhäuser-Verlag, Basel/Boston/Berlin, 1998.

GHENT UNIVERSITY, DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, KRIJGSLAAN 281, S25, B-9000 GHENT, BELGIUM

E-mail address: koen.thas@gmail.com